RECEIVED

Sep 22 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County

Honorable Grace Gilchrist Knie, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DENARDIS JAMON KILGO,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-000567

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GARY H. JOHNSON
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

I. Did the trial court err in admitting photographs taken of the decedent's mutilated and severed lower legs when the evidence was not probative of any disputed fact, was a direct appeal to the jury's emotions, and unreasonably prejudicial under Rule 403, SCRE?

II. Did the trial court commit reversible error in limiting cross-examination of a prison informant on his pending charges thereby infringing on appellant's right to effectively cross-examine the witnesses against regarding potential bias and motivation to mislead the jury?

III. Did the trial court commit reversible error in sentencing appellant under the kidnapping conviction in light of appellant's life sentence for murder since the victim was the same for both offenses?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Greenville County grand jury indicted appellant for the murder and kidnapping of Carolyn Jackson. R. 498. Appellant was tried before the Honorable Grace G. Knie and a jury from March 25 - 28, 2024. Aaron DeBruin and Elizabeth Blackwell represented appellant at trial. Courtney Landsverk and Caroline Davis prosecuted the case. The jury found appellant guilty of the crimes charged. R. 486, ll. 5 - 19. Judge Knie sentenced appellant to a life sentence for the murder conviction and a concurrent sentence of thirty years for kidnapping. R. 495, ll. 14 -25; 502. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred in admitting photographs taken of the decedent’s mutilated and severed lower legs when the evidence was not probative of any disputed fact, was a direct appeal to the jury’s emotions, and unreasonably prejudicial under Rule 403, SCRE.

A. Standard of Review.

“Photographs calculated to arouse the sympathy or prejudice of the jury should be excluded if they are irrelevant or not necessary to substantiate material facts or conditions. To be classified as unfairly prejudicial, photographs must have a tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis, commonly, though not necessarily, an emotional one.” State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 623, 703 S.E.2d 226, 228–29 (2010) (internal citations omitted). “Moreover, “[I]t is well-established that photographs calculated to arouse the sympathies and prejudices of the jury are to be excluded if they are irrelevant or unnecessary to the issues at trial.” State v. Nelson, 440 S.C. 413, 420, 891 S.E.2d 508, 511 (2023) (quoting State v. Jones, 440 S.C. 214, 891 S.E.2d 347 (2023)). “It remains true, however, that when the trial court actually exercises its discretion in balancing the inherent danger of unfair prejudice posed by these photographs against ‘high’ probative value, and puts its reasoning on the record for the appellate court to review, the trial court’s ruling that the danger of unfair prejudice does not substantially outweigh the probative value is a decision that we will almost always find within the trial court’s discretion.” State v. Heyward, 441 S.C. 484, 504, 895 S.E.2d 658, 668–69 (2023).

B. Relevant facts.

Here, there was no probative value to the photographs as the question before the jury was not how Jackson was killed or how her body was treated after death. The sole question for the jury was the role, if any, appellant played in her death. In arguing for the admission of the photographs, the state claimed relevance based upon a need to show malice:

Your Honor, as we discussed in chambers, we have several gruesome pictures in this case. And The State does not want to push the envelope as far as that is concerned. We do not want to enter in lots of difficult to view photos. However, in order to illustrate how the victim died and the circumstances surrounding her burial, also, to point out malice and what happened in the aftermath and her -- and the victim's legs being chopped off, The State feels that it's important for our case in chief to show some photos.

R. 51, l. 20 – 52, l. 5.

Appellant's counsel objected since the photographs did not provide any evidentiary value as to the ultimate question, whether appellant was the source of the decedent's horrible condition:

MR. DEBRUIN: Your Honor, The Defendant would request The Court to keep those pictures out. They don't go toward the cause of death for the victim at all. We believe that it is to inflame the emotions of the jury. She was already deceased when her legs were cut off. It wasn't part of how she died. So it doesn't go towards her cause of death at all. So we would object to the pictures coming in.

R. 52, l. 19 – 53, l. 1.

When asked about the probative value, the state again relied solely upon concepts of malice and the disregard for human life, phrases loaded with emotional appeals.

MRS. LANDSVERK: Yes, Your Honor, I think in order to prove malice that this went beyond just her murder, he went back and severed her legs off. It's important for the jury to understand the

picture. And also, the fact that he dug up a very shallow grave, put her body in it shows just the disregard of human life.

R. 53, ll. 4 – 10.

The trial court, despite referencing State v. Nelson, 440 S.C. 413, 891 S.E.2d 508 (2023) as discussed below, allowed the photographs to be introduced since the state “has good reason for offering them.” R. 53, ll. 11 – 19.

C. Discussion.

Under Rule 403, SCRE, the introduction of graphic photographs, like those involved here, turns in part on whether the evidentiary value is truly present and touches on a disputed fact. When the essential fact in question is not in dispute, there is no need to corroborate with graphic photos that tend to encourage the jury to base a verdict on emotional responses. *Compare State v. Middleton*, 288 S.C. 21, 24, 339 S.E.2d 692, 693 (1986) (“[I]t is well-established that photographs calculated to arouse the sympathies and prejudices of the jury are to be excluded if they are irrelevant or unnecessary to the issues at trial. Appellant's counsel offered to stipulate to any relevant information contained in the photographs, and it is clear the information was not really at issue. Furthermore, the testimony of the forensic pathologist negated any arguable evidentiary value of the photographs. The prejudice created by the photographs clearly outweighed any evidentiary value.”) *with State v. Collins*, 409 S.C. 524, 536, 763 S.E.2d 22, 29 (2014) (“Since there was no one else present at the time of the event, the photos aided the jury in evaluating the testimony offered by both the State and the defendant, especially as to determining the dangerous propensities of the dogs and whether or not Collins's conduct was criminally reckless.”). The need for such photographs to address a disputed fact has been

stressed in the recent decisions from our Supreme Court when reviewing cases in which prosecutors, despite the continued warnings from the appellate courts, push the envelope on the admission of graphic photographs. See State v. Benton, 443 S.C. 1, 9, 901 S.E.2d 701, 705 (2024) (noting the challenged photographs “drew probative force from their unique power to make Benton's accomplices’ testimony more believable. The pictures gave important context to the testimony and other evidence about who did what at the scene.”).

This case falls within the scope of the Supreme Court’s warnings to solicitors not to needlessly rely upon the emotions generated by using graphic photographs to depict matters that were not in dispute. In State v. Nelson, 440 S.C. 413, 891 S.E.2d 508 (2023), the state introduced autopsy photographs when the only matter in dispute was the identity of the killer, not the manner of death. As in Nelson, this case only concerned the identity of the perpetrator, not the manner of death or nature of the crime itself. The Nelson court noted the importance of this distinction in reversing the conviction, noting that if “this were a case such as Collins where the nature of the victim's injuries was in dispute or a case where there was no other convincing evidence of malice or the manner in which the victim died, then the photos may have had sufficient probative value to warrant their admission.” Nelson, 440 S.C. at 426, 891 S.E.2d at 514. As in Nelson, the trial court here erred in admitting the photographs that provided no “high” probative value and raised the prospect that the jury would decide guilt based upon emotion and not the evidence presented. Here, appellant did not contest the manner of Jackson’s death or the treatment of her remains after death. The sole question before the jury was whether appellant was an active participant in that death. The photographs provided no evidentiary value to those issues and were, as claimed by the solicitor, relevant to a showing of malice and disregard of life. Such evidence was extensively pulled from other sources, including numerous witnesses who

testified regarding the condition of Jackson's remains and the manner of her death. This included testimony from members of the investigative team that found Jackson's body, such as Crystal Minwegen, and those that attended the autopsy, such as Allyson White. R. 237 – 242; 253-254. Dr. Grace Dukes testified extensively about the condition of the remains and cause of death. R. 329 – 339. The state had extensive evidence of the malicious nature of Jackson's murder and the treatment of her remains following death. The addition of photographs on top of this evidence was unduly prejudicial and unnecessary.

D. Prejudicial impact.

This case does not involve overwhelming evidence of guilt that discounts a finding of prejudice. Appellant lived with Carolyn Jackson just prior to her disappearance and death. R. 181, ll. 1 - 14. Following Jackson's disappearance, appellant was arrested inside the Jackson home while hiding in a closet. R. 216, l. 1 – 218, l. 25. When he was arrested, appellant had several forms of identification for Jackson on his person. R. 218, l. 16 – 220, l. 18. During his police interrogation, appellant provided authorities with information that Jackson had been killed by two individuals, LA and Jason. R. 399, ll. 10 – 20. While law enforcement discounted this lead, other facts discovered in the case supported this accusation, including the presence of a shotgun found behind Jackson's house that matched appellant's assertions that LA and Jason had threatened him with just such a weapon. R. 399, l. 24 – 400, l. 14. Rather than follow those leads, the state relied upon the testimony of Amanda Scott as to the events surrounding Jackson's death. While Scott certainly testified that Jackson was killed by appellant, her story was constantly changing and, when challenged by contrary evidence, altered to fit the correct narrative. R. 400, l. 15 – 401, l. 2.

The lead investigator was forced to acknowledge that investigators had indeed uncovered the full name of “LA” and was able to identify her in some detail. R. 402, l. 11 – 403, l. 21. According to appellant, Jackson was killed by these other individuals and appellant was aware of what had happened to Jackson and the location of her body. R. 371, l. 13 – 374, l. 13. While police were able to connect appellant to Jackson’s automobile through fingerprints and DNA, appellant lived with Jackson before her disappearance. R. 181, ll. 1 – 14. Scott claimed appellant used a pair of gloves in cleaning up Jackson’s blood after her murder. R. 146, l. 13 – 147, l. 18. While these gloves were found to have appellant’s DNA, Jackson’s DNA was notably absent from them. R. 315, l. 2 – 319, l. 16. There was no blood apparent on these gloves and they tested negative for the presence of blood. R. 274, ll. 11 – 22. None of the material used to wrap Jackson’s body or found on her body was tied to appellant either through DNA or fingerprinting.

While law enforcement discounted appellant’s version of events in favor of Scott’s, the jury should have been allowed to evaluate these conflicting accounts of Jackson’s death free of the unnecessary taint of the photographs of her dismembered corpse that served no evidentiary purpose and were likely to inflame the passions of the jury and dictate a verdict based upon emotion rather than a just weighing of the evidence. Appellant is entitled to a new trial free of the improper influence of these photographs.

II. The trial court committed reversible error in limiting cross-examination of a prison informant on his pending charges thereby infringing on appellant's right to effectively cross-examine the witnesses against regarding potential bias and motivation to mislead the jury.

A. Standard of review.

Rule 608(c), SCRE, provides that “bias, prejudice or any motive to misrepresent may be shown to impeach the witness either by examination of the witness or by evidence otherwise adduced.” “Evidence of a witness's bias can be compelling impeachment evidence, and for that reason ‘considerable latitude is allowed’ to defense counsel in criminal cases ‘in the cross-examination of an adverse witness for the purpose of testing bias.’” Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 182, 810 S.E.2d 836, 840 (2018) (quoting State v. Jones, 343 S.C. 562, 541 S.E.2d 813 (2001)). “As a general rule, a trial court's ruling on the proper scope of cross-examination will not be disturbed absent a manifest abuse of discretion.” State v. Quattlebaum, 338 S.C. 441, 450, 527 S.E.2d 105, 109 (2000).

B. Relevant facts.

To bolster the case against appellant, the state called Tony Dillard to testify regarding conversations he claimed to have had with appellant while both were incarcerated together before trial. During direct examination, Dillard claimed appellant admitted his involvement with Jackson's death and the disposal of her remains. R. 358, l. 18 - 359, l. 7. The solicitor also had Dillard testify that the solicitor's office had not promised Dillard anything for the testimony. R. 360, ll. 6 – 13.

During cross-examination, as soon as appellant's counsel challenged Dillard regarding the pending charges Dillard faced and the benefits he expected for his testimony, both the solicitor and Dillard's own counsel objected.

Q Okay. Now you have a new charge; is that right?

A I plead the fifth on that.

MRS. LANDSVERK: Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay, that would be sustained.

MR. DEBRUIN: Your Honor –

THE COURT: Can you come up, please?

(WHEREUPON, an off-the-record bench conference was held in the presence of the jury but out of hearing of the jury.)

MR. MARTINEZ: Michael Martinez on behalf of Mr. Dillard. I'm objecting on behalf of Mr. Dillard regarding the questioning relating to the fact that he has pending charges.

THE COURT: Okay. And for the record, counsel present in the courtroom for Mr. Dillard is Michael Martinez, who just made an objection on the record, okay.

All right. Counsel, please move along.

MR. DEBRUIN: Thank you, Your Honor.

R. 365, l. 18 – 366, l. 11.¹

The following day, the trial court noted that “there was an objection by Michael Martinez, counsel for Mr. Dillard, regarding Mr. Dillard's pending charges. That was sustained.”

R. 427, ll. 8 – 10.

¹ The trial judge informed counsel there would be no speaking objections during trial and reminded counsel of this rule during trial. R. 388, ll. 11 – 12. The trial court did take time to recount the various points of objections prior to the start of testimony from the previous days. See R. 132, l. 4 – 15; 321, l. 1 – 323, l. 15.

C. Discussion.

The trial court erred in limiting appellant's ability to challenge Dillard's testimony regarding his potential motivation to mislead the jury in hopes of obtaining leniency or other potential favorable treatment by the solicitor's office related to his pending charges. *See State v. Sims*, 348 S.C. 16, 25, 558 S.E.2d 518, 523 (2002) (holding the trial court erred in not allowing cross-examination of a witness regarding pending charges); *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 183, 810 S.E.2d 836, 841 (2018) (finding trial counsel was ineffective for not cross-examining a witness regarding the dismissal of pending charges the day of trial testimony). Under Rule 608(c), SCRE, a witness may be challenged on "bias, prejudice or any motive to misrepresent" and such may be explored "either by examination of the witness or by evidence otherwise adduced." In *State v. Gracely*, 399 S.C. 363, 731 S.E.2d 880 (2012), our Supreme Court addressed this same scenario where an accused was not allowed to fully cross-examine various informants who stood to gain some degree of assistance from the state in exchange for favorable testimony. The court noted that the trial court "improperly prevented questioning which would have examined the extent of that bias and the witnesses' possible motivations for testifying against Appellant." *Id.*, 399 S.C. at 373–74, 731 S.E.2d at 885.

In allowing Dillard's counsel to interject an objection placed Dillard's rights to refuse to answer questions under the 5th Amendment over appellant's rights to confront the witnesses against him protected by the Confrontation Clause of the United States Constitution and the Constitution of the State of South Carolina. This was an error of law under *Sims* and *Gracely* and the trial court committed reversible error in limiting appellant's counsel from challenging Dillard's motivations to gain favor regarding his pending charges.

D. Prejudice.

Dillard's testimony was critical in bridging the lack of direct evidence of guilt with the widely changing and evolving claims of Amanda Scott. As investigator King said, Scott was a known liar who changed her story frequently. R. 400, l. 15 – 401, l. 2; 411, l. 24 – 412, l. 1. The state needed Dillard to add weight to the various claims made by Scott who was challenged extensively regarding her changing and evolving claims regarding Jackson's death. This was highlighted in the solicitor's closing argument to the jury:

Then we heard from Tony Dillard. *And this is somebody who is very unexpected, who had no involvement with the case.* He got to know The Defendant in jail. They got to know each other over a period of two years. They both decided to join the Muslim religion. And through that experience, they were able to talk and it was determined that The Defendant decided to give him this information, to let him know, hey, look I want to get your opinion on this. Do you think I'll get away with it? I murdered her and, by the way, Amanda Scott was with me the whole time. She didn't do anything, but she's going down with me. I don't want her to be with anybody else. *And it was the same story that Amanda Scott told us about the fact that she felt dragged into this.* That she had nothing to do with it.

R. 444, ll. 3 – 19 (emphasis added). The state further emphasized this need to corroborate Scott's testimony through Dillard noting: "But as far as meeting her, I think it's very interesting that he had this information and it lined up to exactly what Amanda Scott told us, somebody that she didn't know." R. 445, ll. 1 – 4.

Due to the state's obvious need to bolster the changing and evolving Scott story, Dillard became a critical supporting witness whose bias and motivation to lie was essential to appellant's right to confront the witnesses against him. It was reversible error to restrict the examination of Dillard's pending criminal charges and appellant is entitled to a new trial.

III. The trial court committed reversible error in sentencing appellant under the kidnapping conviction in light of appellant’s life sentence for murder since the victim was the same for both offenses.

A. Standard of Review.

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Johnson, 413 S.C. 458, 466, 776 S.E.2d 367, 371 (2015). “A sentence will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support.” In re M.B.H., 387 S.C. 323, 326, 692 S.E.2d 541, 542 (2010). “Generally, a challenge to sentencing must be raised at trial or the issue will not be preserved for appellate review.” State v. Davis-Kocsis, 443 S.C. 127, 134, 903 S.E.2d 491, 495 (2024). However, this preservation requirement may be waived in “exceptional circumstances.” Id.

B. Relevant facts.

At the close of evidence, the jury found appellant guilty of the murder and kidnapping of Carolyn Jackson as indicted. R. 486, ll. 5 – 19. Without objection by counsel for appellant, the trial court sentenced appellant to life for the murder conviction and a concurrent thirty-year sentence for the kidnapping conviction. R. 495, ll. 14 -25. While this omission by trial counsel raises an issue preservation concern for this Court’s review, appellant would argue that, with the consent of the state, this matter may be addressed on direct appeal. *See* State v. Plumer, 439 S.C. 346, 351, 887 S.E.2d 134, 137 (2023) (holding that “when a trial court imposes what the State concedes is an illegal sentence, the appellate court may correct that sentence on direct appeal or

remand the issue to the trial court even if the defendant did not object to the sentence at trial and even if there is no real threat of incarceration beyond the limits of a legal sentence.”).

C. Discussion.

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