STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Greenville County

The Honorable Grace Gilchrist Knie, Circuit Court Judge

---

**RECEIVED**

**Oct 13 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

DENARDIS JAMONT KILGO,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2024-000567

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

KAYLEE C. KEMP  
Assistant Attorney General

Office of the Attorney General  
Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6307

CINDY S. CRICK  
Thirteenth Circuit Solicitor's Office

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

As to the gruesomeness of these particular photographs, forensic matters are graphically shown in various and sundry popular prime time television programs and documentaries; the jurors simply would not be so shocked by these photographs that they would have rendered a verdict based on an emotional basis.

### **Harmless Error**

Finally, and to the extent the Court finds that the trial judge erroneously allowed the prosecution to introduce these photographs, any error in its admission could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. See *State v. Sherard*, 303 S.C. 172, 175, 399 S.E.2d 595, 596 (1991) (“Error in a criminal prosecution is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial”); *State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (“When guilt has been

conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result”). “Whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the particular case.” *State v. Tapp*, 398 S.C. 376, 389, 728 S.E.2d 468, 475 (2012).

Here, any error must be viewed as harmless and non-prejudicial because, at worst, the photographs were cumulative to the testimony which it corroborated. The admission of improper evidence is harmless when the evidence is merely cumulative to other evidence. *See State v. Haselden*, 353 S.C. 190, 197, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448-49 (2003); *See also State v. Brazell*, 325 S.C. 65, 79, 480 S.E.2d 64, 72 (1997) (“Even if the descriptive testimony of the prosecution’s witnesses adequately conveyed the brutality and malice of the crime and these photographs were unnecessary, they were harmless surplusage”) (citing *State v. Robinson*, 201 S.C. 230, 22 S.E.2d 587 (1942) (finding the photographs unnecessary but harmless because they were not prejudicial or inflammatory)).

Further, Appellant’s guilt was conclusively established beyond any reasonable doubt. The State presented that Appellant incriminated himself after he was arrested by identifying the location of the victim’s body and leading investigators to the exact location of the burial site. Scott’s depiction of the crime discussed evidence that would have only been known to someone who was there and was corroborated by additional evidence. Appellant’s fingerprints were found on the gloves collected at the crime scene, and his DNA identified on the victim’s car. As such, any error must be considered harmless.

## II.

**Appellant's assertion that that the trial court erred in limiting Dillard's cross-examination in regard to the substance of his pending charges is not preserved for this Court's review, and in the alternative, the trial court did not err in limiting cross-examination of the pending charge(s) when Dillard invoked his 5<sup>th</sup> Amendment right to remain silent under the United States Constitution and did not infringe on Appellant's 6<sup>th</sup> Amendment right to cross examination considering the substance of Dillard's pending charge(s) are a collateral matter and did not relate to his direct testimony.**

Appellant asserts that the trial court erred in limiting Appellant's cross-examination of Dillard in regard to the substance of his pending charges. Appellant relies on our state supreme court's holdings in *State v. Sims*, 348 S.C. 16, 558 S.E.2d 518 (2002) and *State v. Gracely*, 399 S.C. 363, 731 S.E.2d 880 (2012), both of which consisted of the cooperating witness receiving a reduced sentence for their testimony against the defendant. The issue before this Court is not preserved for review, nevertheless, the current facts are discernable from those of *Sims* and *Gracely*.

### **Relevant Facts**

The State called Tony Dillard to testify to Appellant's confessions of committing the murder. (R. 353-368, Entirety of Dillard's Testimony). At the outset of direct examination, Dillard confirmed that he was a convicted felon and was currently residing in the Greenville County Detention Center for pending charges. (R. p. 353-354). The State commented that "we're not here today to discuss [Dillard's] pending charges but we are here to talk about the Defendant, Denardis Kilgo." (R. p. 354). Dillard explained that he met Appellant in the detention center where they participated in the same mental health program and other activities together. (R. p. 354). He testified that they talked every day and became "good buddies." (R. p. 354). Dillard noted that they spoke about their cases but more so discussed Appellant's because his charges were more serious.

(R. p. 355). He testified that Appellant told him that he “had an incident with an older female and that she ended up being duct taped and wrapped and all kinds of bad things.” (R. p. 358). He added that Appellant stated that he told his female friend who was with him to go to the department store to get utensils to try to get rid of her body. (R. p. 359). Dillard further added that Appellant stated that “he didn’t know what to do with [the body] so he rode around with it for an amount of hours and decided that he was going to take the body back to Charlotte where he’s from to bury the body in a cemetery,” but Appellant stated that he never got a chance to do it. (R. p. 359). Dillard confirmed that he was providing this information of his own free will and that the solicitor’s office did not offer or promise him anything in exchange for his testimony. (R. p. 360).

On cross-examination, Dillard confirmed that he was well versed in the criminal justice system, that he had convictions for indecent exposure and strong-arm robbery, and that he was a registered sex offender. (R. pp. 361-362, 365). When asked if he was facing a new charge, Dillard stated “I plead the Fifth on that.” (R. p. 365). Dillard’s counsel made an objection on the record to questioning regarding Dillard’s pending charges and the Court instructed Appellant’s counsel to “move along” with his examination (R. p. 366). When asked if he was hoping that his testimony would benefit him, Dillard responded in the negative. (R. p. 368).

### **Preservation of the Issue**

As an initial matter, defense counsel did not place his argument on the record<sup>3</sup> that the purpose of cross examination of the pending charge was based on the existence of the charge. The record reflects the following exchange:

Mr. DeBruin:                    Okay. Now you have a new charge; is that right?

---

<sup>3</sup> The trial court informed counsel that there would be no speaking objections throughout the trial, and that arguments would be placed on the record as close as possible in time to the objection, at a break, at the end of the day, or the next morning. (R. p. 133).

Dillard: I plead the Fifth on that.

Ms. Landsverk: Your Honor.

The Court: Okay, that would be sustained.

Mr. DeBruin: Your Honor - -

The Court: Can you come up please?

(Whereupon, an off the record bench conference was held in the presence of the jury but out of the hearing of the jury).

Mr. Martinez: Michael Martinez on behalf of Mr. Dillard. I'm objecting on behalf of Mr. Dillard regarding the questioning relating to the fact that he has pending charges.

The Court: Okay. And for the record, counsel present in the courtroom for Mr. Dillard is Michael Martinez, who just made an objection on the record, okay. All right. Counsel, please move along.

(R. pp. 365-366).

The following day, the trial court placed the following on the record:

On the cross examination of Tony Dillard at 11:54, there was an objection by the solicitor, Ms. Landsverk, concerning going into allegations of a prior record, okay that was sustained.

At 11:55, objection by the solicitor concerning the specifics - - the same witness, Mr. Dillard, regarding the specifics of a plea or pleas, and that was sustained.

At 11:59, there was an objection by Michael Martinez, counsel for Dillard, regarding Mr. Dillard's pending charges. That was sustained.

(R. pp. 426-427).

In fact, there are no apparent stated grounds for the State's objection and no indication from the record that defense counsel ever raised Rule 608(b), SCRE or referenced the elicitation of bias in support of questioning Dillard for the basis of admission of his testimony regarding the

substance of his pending charges. *See State v. Stahlnecker*, 386 S.C. 609, 617, 690 S.E.2d 565, 570 (2010) (“[a] party need not use the exact name of a legal doctrine ..., but it must be clear the argument has been presented on that ground.”); *State v. Haselden*, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003) (“holding [that a] party may not argue one ground at trial and another on appeal; where appellant did not object to testimony at trial on the grounds raised on appeal, that it was improper character evidence, but objected only on the basis of relevancy, issue was not preserved for review”). The trial court instructed that there would be no speaking objections throughout the trial, however there is no indication that the trial court prohibited defense counsel from stating his arguments on the record. *See Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018) (“When a conference takes place off the record, it is trial counsel’s duty to put the substance of the discussion and the trial court’s ruling on the record.”). Accordingly, the argument now made on appeal is not preserved for this Court’s review.

### **Discussion in the Alternative**

Even if this Court concludes that the issue was preserved, the facts do not align with *Gracely*. *Gracely* concluded “[t]he fact a cooperating witness’ avoidance of the mandatory minimum sentence is critical information that a defendant must be allowed to present to the jury,” and thereby “prevented Appellant from demonstrating the possible bias rising from these plea deals through an examination reaching the requisite degree of granularity.” 399 S.C. at 374, 731 S.E.2d at 886. Here, there was no question about the amount of time Dillard was facing which are the circumstances on which *Gracely*’s holding is based. It cannot be applicable here.

In *Sims*, defendant’s counsel wanted to question a cooperating witness about his pending charges because he had possibly been promised a deal in exchange for his testimony. *Sims*, 348 S.C. at 23, 558 S.E.2d at 522. The State responded there was no promised deal, but that the witness

had been told when he went to trial on the charges, the State would tell the trial judge he had cooperated by testifying in the instant case. *Sims*, 348 S.C. at 24, 558 S.E.2d at 522. Our Supreme Court reasoned that because the witness had *numerous pending charges* carrying severe penalties, there is a “*substantial possibility* that [the witness] would give biased testimony in an effort to have the solicitor highlight to his future trial judge how he had cooperated in the instant case.” *Sims*, 348 S.C. at 25, 558 S.E.2d at 523 (emphasis added).

*Sims* makes its holding based on the circumstances at hand and does not call for a uniform application of a brightline rule. Dissimilar to the circumstances in *Sims*, the record here is rather unclear on whether Dillard is facing one or multiple charges. (See R. p. 354, the solicitor states, “And we’re not here today to talk about your pending **charges**, p. 365, defense counsel asks “Now you have a new **charge**; is that right? p. 366, Martinez states “I’m objecting on behalf of Mr. Dillard regarding the questioning relating to the fact that he has pending **charges**.”). It must follow that there is nothing to support that there is a “substantial possibility” that Dillard would give biased testimony to avoid a severe sentence resulting from a multitude of charges. Also, Dillard specifically testified that he was not offered or promised anything for his testimony and the State made no indication that the solicitor’s office intended to do so. (R. p. 360).

In *State v. Hill*, 382 S.C. 360, 367 675 S.E.2d 764, 768 (Ct. App. 2009), this Court addresses a witness’ refusal to answer questions regarding the details of his plea deal, which the witness acknowledged that he violated, and refused to discuss further. The circumstances and legal analysis this Court presents in *Hill* are comparable to the case at hand.

Though Respondent submits that any presented constitutional issues are not preserved for this Court’s review, Appellant argues that Dillard’s 5<sup>th</sup> Amendment right to remain silent was favored over Appellant’s 6<sup>th</sup> Amendment right to cross-examine the witnesses against him

enumerated in the Confrontation Clause. *See State v. Owens*, 378 S.C. 636, 664 S.E.2d 80 (2008) (“confrontation clause and due process arguments not preserved for review”). It is well within the trial court’s discretion to “impose reasonable limits on [the scope] of cross-examination designed to show the prototypical form of bias on the part of a witness.” *Hill*, 382 S.C. at 366-367, 675 S.E.2d at 767 (citing *State v. Graham*, 314 S.C. 383, 385–86, 444 S.E.2d 525, 527 (1994)). *Hill* reconciled that there is little danger of prejudice to the defendant when the questions on cross examination are collateral, meaning that they “relate solely to the witness’s credibility and bear no relation to the subject matter of the direct examination.” 382 S.C. at 367, 675 S.E.2d at 768.

Where the privilege has been invoked as to purely collateral matters, there is little danger of prejudice to the defendant and, therefore, the witness’s testimony may be used against him. On the other hand, if the witness by invoking the privilege precludes inquiry into the details of his direct testimony, there may be a substantial danger of prejudice because the defense is deprived of the right to test the truth of his direct testimony and, therefore, that witness’s testimony should be stricken in whole or in part.

*Hill*, 382 S.C. at 367, 675 S.E.2d at 767-768 (citing *Cardillo*, 316 F.2d at 611).

Here, based on defense counsel’s question inquiring into the pending charge(s), it appears he sought to elicit what the pending charge was, though the record is void of clarification for purpose. However, as *Hill* has found, that type of information is sought to speak on credibility and there is no indication from the record that identifying what Dillard’s pending charge(s) was would have related to his direct testimony *i.e.*, Appellant’s confessions of committing the crime to him. Credibility concerns were before the jury on direct and cross examination. Defense counsel suggested that Dillard had perhaps seen the details of Appellant’s case on the news or that Dillard went through Appellant’s discovery file with him in jail which would have appraised Dillard of the details he was testifying to. (R. pp. 364-367). Without objection from the State, Dillard testified as to his prior convictions, and that he was a registered sex offender, and the State acknowledged

that he had pending charges. (R. pp. 354, 361-362, 365). Accordingly, Dillard's refusal to address the substance of his pending charge(s) could not have reasonably prejudiced Appellant as to warrant reversal of his convictions.

### III.

#### **The vacation of Appellant's kidnapping sentence should be left to this Court's discretion.**

Appellant asks that this Court review and vacate his sentence for kidnapping. Appellant was sentenced to life imprisonment for murder and a concurrent thirty (30) years for kidnapping at the conclusion of his trial on March 28, 2024. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-910 (1991) has previously prohibited the inclusion of the thirty (30) year sentence for kidnapping when the defendant was also sentenced for murder. The statute was amended to allow sentencing for the kidnapping offense when also sentenced for murder, effective on July 2, 2024. *See* 2024 Act No. 213 (S.142), § 4.A, eff July 2, 2024.

Appellant acknowledges that the issue was not raised to the trial court, however, relies on *State v. Plumer*, 439 S.C. 346, 887 S.E.2d 134 (2023) in asking this Court to exercise its discretion, if at all, by correcting the sentence on direct appeal or remanding the issue to the trial court. Respondent leaves the matter within this Court's discretion.

### CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, this Court should affirm the judgment, conviction and sentence.